1948

I. R. Stringham, et al. v. Salt Lake City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal is from the order of the district court

dismissing the complaint for failure to state a cause of action (Tr. 32) following the election of appellants to stand on their complaint upon sustaining of a demurrer thereto. The demurrer (Tr. 26) was based on a failure to state a cause of action or state a case for injunctive relief. The order sustaining the demurrer (Tr. 32) denied the right to amend the complaint and ordered a dismissal thereof, thus indicating that the ruling of the court was for failure to state a cause of action for any relief whatever. It will therefore be assumed that the complaint stated grounds for equitable relief but that it failed to state a cause of action entitling appellants to any relief whatever.

By stipulation and order the complaint was subsequently amended in minor details and the order of the court was made applicable to the complaint as amended by interlineation (Tr. 31).

Since the appeal is on the judgment roll there is no transcript of evidence and no statement of the court's reasons for sustaining the demurrer of the respondent. The complaint alleges that the action of respondent was taken without evidence, without finding, without reasonable support, and that it was not promotive of the public health, safety, morals, or welfare of Salt Lake City or its people by alleging that none of those interests would be promoted by the action of the respondent.

There follow the complaint as amended, without the title and verification (Tr. 1), and Exhibits "A", "B", and "D" attached to the complaint (Tr. 11, 13, 16). Ex-

hibits "C" and "E" (Tr. 13, 17) are not reproduced as they will be referred to only generally in the argument herein.

" For their cause of action plaintiffs allege:

1. Plaintiffs, I. R. Stringham; J. S. Smith; J. D. Gardner; Central Land Company, a corporation; Utah Motor Park, a corporation; Iva Parkin; E. F. Zeyer; L. O. Hunter; Art J. Carter; Fred Muse; Ivy Rae Pitman; E. A. Chamberlin; Frank B. Bowers; Mrs. Dean R. Daynes; Mrs. Hugh W. Law; and Kenneth E. Smith, are owners or operators of motor courts in Salt Lake City, Utah, which motor courts offer lodging accommodations to visitors, to transient persons, and to residents of Salt Lake City, usually on a daily or weekly basis.

2. Plaintiffs, Glen C. Bills; Albert P. Holt; Lewis Humphries; Gomer O. Thomas; Utah Credit Co., a corporation; Capitol Chevrolet Co., a corporation; Home Acceptance Corp., a corporation; and Joe Johnson, are owners or operators of service stations or other facilities servicing or relating to motor cars and situated in Salt Lake County, Utah.

3. The defendant is a municipal corporation existing under the laws of the State of Utah and situated in Salt Lake County, Utah; and corporate plaintiffs are corporations of the State of Utah.

4. Each of the plaintiffs is the owner of a sign or signs advertising the business of such plaintiff and inviting patronage of said business from members of the

public who travel upon and use the streets of Salt Lake City, and each of said signs is situated upon that portion of the public streets known as the curbing or parking area lying and being between the curb or edge of the portion of the street used for vehicular traffic and the sidewalk or the portion used for pedestrian traffic, and each of said signs is mounted upon a support which is affixed to or rests upon said portion of the public street. None of said signs protrudes over or is above any portion of any public street which is customarily used by pedestrians for walking, by vehicular traffic for travel or movement, or by any other group of persons except these plaintiffs, who care for the lawn, flowers, shrubs, and trees in said parking areas and service said signs as and when service is needed.

5. All of the aforementioned signs were constructed after obtaining, and pursuant to, permits issued by the defendant upon application of the plaintiffs and pursuant to Section 5720 of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City, Utah, 1944, copy of which is marked Exhibit "A," attached hereto, and by this reference made a part hereof. Plaintiffs have information which they believe and therefore allege as the fact that no objections have been made to the existence of the aforesaid signs for any reasons of health, safety, morals, general welfare, unsightliness, nuisance, or as being contrary to the best interests of the public residing within Salt Lake City, and the only objection against said signs which is known to plaintiffs is that an official of the Road Commission of the State of Utah is reported to have said that there

should be no signs on any state highways in the State of Utah, which objection would be applicable to a part only of the signs owned by plaintiffs, namely, to those signs situated on streets of Salt Lake City which are also designated as state highways. This alleged objection of an official of the Road Commission would be applicable to a great number of overhanging signs, marquees, and presumably to obstructions and encroachments on and under the sidewalks of streets of Salt Lake City which are designated as state highways, none of which said signs and other structures and obstructions are affected by the revision of Exhibit "A," hereinabove referred to and none of which defendant is endeavoring to curtail or prohibit.

6. Twice during the year 1947 officials of the defendant notified groups of the plaintiffs that signs on parking or curb areas of the streets of defendant city should be removed and that permits for a continued use of said signs would not be renewed.

7. At the request of plaintiffs named in paragraph 1 hereof the Board of Commissioners of defendant gave notice of a hearing relative to promulgation of an ordinance designed to amend Section 5720 of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City, 1944, which notice is attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and by this reference made a part hereof.

8. Pursuant to Exhibit "B," representatives of the plaintiffs named in paragraph 1 appeared before the said Board of Commissioners and voiced objections to the proposed revision of the ordinance aforesaid for the

reason that such revision would be discriminatory, contrary to the best interests of the residents of Salt Lake City, and not pursuant to any of the authority vested in the Board of Commissioners of defendant. At said hearing no person appeared in support of the revision of said ordinance and the said Board of Commissioners indicated no request from residents of Salt Lake City, Utah, for such a revision and indicated no reason of public need or policy requiring or permitting the proposed revision of said ordinance, except that said Board of Commissioners had long considered the advisability of withdrawing licenses for signs for such as those owned by plaintiffs, as aforesaid, and that it would be a good thing if such a revision were made and said signs removed, and also that a representative of the Road Commission of the State of Utah had mentioned that no signs, including some of the signs of plaintiffs, should be allowed to exist on or over the public highways of the State of Utah.

9. Despite the objections of these plaintiffs, voiced as aforesaid, and the lack of any public or private support for a revision of said ordinance in the manner threatened, the Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake City has purported to pass and promulgate a revised ordinance No. 5720 of Salt Lake City, Utah, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "C" and by this reference made a part hereof.

10. At the hearing aforesaid no evidence was given and no reason or authority except as stated hereinbefore for changing signs situated in, on, or over the

city property from “structures” to “obstructions” simply by rewording an ordinance, as has been attempted by the defendant acting by its duly elected Board of City Commissioners.

11. Exhibit “C” is beyond and in excess of any lawful authority vested in the said Board of Commissioners of defendant and is discriminatory, unlawful, unreasonable, and void as being unrelated to any legitimate object of the defendant city, as is more fully shown by the following facts:

(a) The said signs of plaintiffs are not such obstructions as to require prohibition or as to permit of discriminatory prohibition or regulation for the reason that the said parking areas throughout Salt Lake City and outside of the congested district are planted with trees, which trees are much more of an obstruction of view and an interference with the safe use of streets than are said signs; the streets of Salt Lake City have placed in said parking areas numerous utility poles, which said poles are more unsightly and are greater obstructions to the safe use of said streets than are the signs of plaintiffs; there are over and above the streets of Salt Lake City, and particularly in the congested portion of said city, numerous overhanging signs and advertisements, some of which are affixed and attached to buildings and others of which are not, and which extend and protrude over and above the streets of said city, which said signs are more dangerous to the safe use of the streets and particularly the sidewalks thereof than are the signs of plaintiffs and which said signs are

greater obstructions to the free and safe use of said streets than are the signs of plaintiffs; and none of the aforesaid uses, structures, and obstructions are prohibited by the ordinances of Salt Lake City, and the aforementioned signs are specifically permitted under Section 5731, shade trees by Section 4315, and poles by Sections 6001, 6002, 6005, and 6006 of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City, Utah, 1944.

(b) Said signs of plaintiffs do not encroach upon the use of the streets of Salt Lake City for the reason that said signs do not extend over any of the traveled portions of said streets or over any of the portions used by pedestrians; and there are many other uses of said streets which are permitted by Salt Lake City and which constitute encroachments upon said uses and, more particularly: Innumerable trees; hanging signs, as above mentioned, and other advertisements; delivery chutes, elevators, and receptacles placed in the sidewalks of said streets at innumerable places and, particularly, in the congested areas; and portions excavated under the sidewalks in the congested areas and used for business purposes by the abutting owners.

(c) Prohibition of the signs of plaintiffs cannot be related to traffic control because most of said signs are in areas where trees have been planted in the parking areas, and placing the signs back from the street onto private property would be a greater traffic hazard than having them where located; furthermore, overhanging signs permitted throughout Salt Lake City are equally distracting and because greater in number, are more dis-

tracting to traffic and are, therefore, a greater danger and hazard than are the signs of plaintiffs; furthermore, the regulations and the enforcement policies enacted and in effect by the defendant permit advertising signs on utility buses, on delivery trucks, and on sound trucks and permit the use of sound trucks over and along the streets of Salt Lake City, all of which attract the attention of drivers of vehicles on the public streets and constitute a greater traffic hazard than do the signs of these plaintiffs, none of which uses is prohibited as is attempted by the ordinance here in question.

(d) The said ordinance is unreasonable as a safety regulation since the signs of these plaintiffs are soundly constructed of non-combustible materials, are not above the traveled portions of the streets or sidewalks and are, therefore, less dangerous to the traveling and walking public and less dangerous as a fire hazard than are the permitted overhead signs, utility wires, guy wires, trees, and the above-mentioned delivery chutes, elevators, receptacles, and similar obstructions and encroachments placed in the sidewalks.

(e) Said regulation is not reasonable as motivated by aesthetic considerations because said signs of plaintiffs are attractive and well-kept and are not less attractive than are other signs permitted to be over the streets by said defendant and are more attractive than uses permitted by private property owners, including the display of unattractive signs and the construction and maintenance of barns, sheds, garages, and commercial

plants in the areas where the signs of plaintiffs are maintained.

(f) Said regulation is unrelated to health of the people of Salt Lake City, there being nothing injurious, noxious, or deleterious about the signs of plaintiffs.

(g) Said signs of plaintiffs are not fire hazards and are not susceptible to regulation as fire hazards for the reason that said signs are not in sufficiently close proximity to buildings or residences, and for the further reason that said signs are made of non-combustible materials of good construction with a low voltage of electricity, for the further reason that said signs meet all of the requirements of said defendant for electrical construction and are therefore not a fire hazard or otherwise dangerous.

(h) Said signs of plaintiffs are unrelated to the morals of Salt Lake City and are not injurious to morals because the copy on said signs advertises motor courts and automobile services or automobiles in a clean, wholesome, business-like manner.

(i) Regulations of said signs is not justified because of congestion in Salt Lake City for the reason that most of said signs are located outside the business or congested area, in which area innumerable hanging signs and other advertising structures are permitted by the defendant.

(j) Regulation of said signs is not supportable as an interference with residential uses of the property in Salt Lake City for the reasons that said ordinance makes no effort to regulate use of the abutting property, there

have been no complaints of the signs of plaintiffs because of such interference, and because some of said signs exist in commercial and business districts as well as in residential districts; and said ordinance makes no reference to use of the property abutting the signs.

12. This action is brought in behalf of all persons situated similarly to plaintiffs or any of them, which persons may join as plaintiffs in this cause or have the benefit of this proceeding without joining.

13. Plaintiffs have constructed the aforesaid signs pursuant to permission of defendant at great expense.

14. Defendant has given notice to plaintiffs and to all of them that their existing signs must be removed on or before February 15, 1948, and that unless so removed the defendant will take action against each plaintiff for removal of said signs.

15. Permitting the maintenance of this action and issuance of an injunction against the defendant's enforcing said revised ordinance will avoid a multiplicity of suits.

16. Unless an injunction issues against defendant's enforcing Revised Ordinance, marked Exhibit "C," plaintiffs will suffer great and irreparable injury in that if the signs of the plaintiffs are removed defendant will not permit their replacement and these plaintiffs have no remedy by law to compel defendant to permit the re-erection of said signs should they be taken down and new and original application be made for a permit under a discretionary ordinance.

17. Plaintiffs have offered to pay the annual li-

cense fees for 1948 required for the continued existence of said signs, which fees defendant has refused to accept solely upon the ground that the revised ordinance does not permit continued existence of said signs and not for any reason of hazard, obstruction of traffic, encroachment upon property of the city, lack of beauty or attractiveness, or acceptability of the copy on said signs or the appearance thereof, or for failure to maintain said signs in a safe and adequate manner, and plaintiffs further allege that none of said potential objections exists as to any of said signs.

18. The Deputy City Recorder of defendant has furnished information which plaintiffs believe and therefore allege as the fact that the latest official finding, order, or action taken by defendant with reference to Exhibit "C" and the ordered removal of plaintiffs' signs, was taken on January 6, 1948, as shown by the document on file in the City Recorder's office, of which a copy is attached hereto as Exhibit "D" and by this reference made a part hereof; and plaintiffs further allege that the said amended Ordinance 5720, referred to as Exhibit "C," has not been duly and officially signed or published by defendant's officers and that the threatened action of defendant above referred to is for this further reason arbitrary, discriminatory, unreasonable, and void.

19. Plaintiffs further allege that, should this Honorable Court find that Exhibit "C" has not been enacted by defendant and that the action of defendant referred to in paragraph 14 is taken pursuant to Ordinance

5720 referred to as Exhibit "A," then plaintiffs allege that said action is unlawful, discriminatory, unreasonable, and void for all of the reasons alleged in paragraphs 11 and 18 and for the additional reason that subsection "g" of said Exhibit "A" is unlawful, unreasonable, discriminatory, and void and does not contain or indicate any standard or standards to govern the removal of structures erected pursuant to permission contained in said Section 5720 permitting defendant to act arbitrarily and capriciously as defendant is doing in the matters alleged herein, thereby damaging and threatening to damage plaintiffs as aforesaid and discriminating against plaintiffs in respect to their signs referred to herein as against other signs and other structures erected above, over, in, or around any part of any street of Salt Lake City pursuant to Section 5731, Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City, Utah, 1944, copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "E" and incorporated herein, which section does not provide for arbitrary or discriminatory removal unless and until said signs shall become unsafe or dangerous, and defendant has made no finding, order, or determination in the premises except as shown by Exhibit "D."

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray that this court issue a restraining order against the defendant and its officers, agents, employees, and attorneys restraining it and them from enforcing Revised Ordinance 5720, attached to this complaint as Exhibit "C," and that this court issue an order to defendant to show cause on a day certain why an injunction should not issue against the de-

fendant and its officers, agents, employees, and attorneys enjoining the enforcement of said ordinance pending final determination of this proceeding by this court, and that a bond be fixed in such form and amount as to indemnify defendant against damage from said injunction;

And plaintiffs pray further for a permanent injunction against the defendant enjoining the enforcement of said Revised Ordinance 5720, for such further relief as shall be appropriate to protect and preserve the rights and property of plaintiffs, and for their costs incurred herein.

(Signed) RICHARDS AND BIRD,

Attorneys for Plaintiffs."

“

Exhibit "A"

SEC. 5720. Obstructions. Permits. Fees. The following words when used in this ordinance shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them:

(a) "STREET." All parts of a public street between the boundary lines, including parkings, sidewalks, gutters, and roadways.

(b) "OBSTRUCTION." Any rubbish, glass, material, wood, ashes, tacks, metal, earth, stone or other object, thing or substance which may interfere with or obstruct the free use or view of the street by travelers, or injure or tend to injure or destroy or render unsightly the surface of a street, or which may cause or tend to

cause such street to become unsafe or dangerous for travelers thereon.

(c) "STRUCTURE." Any sign, sign post, advertisement, merchandise, material, flag, banner, rack, fence, vehicle, object or structure which shall be erected, located, deposited or placed in or upon any street, except those objects affixed to any building and extending over a street which are licensed or regulated under Section 5731 of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City, Utah, 1944.

(d) It shall be unlawful for any person to place, cast, deposit, permit or suffer to remain in or upon any street in Salt Lake City any obstruction as herein defined.

(e) It shall be unlawful for any person to erect or place upon any street or to suffer or permit to remain on any street any structure as herein defined without first obtaining from the Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake City permission so to do, and then only in strict accordance with the terms and conditions of the express permission granted. The Board of Commissioners of said city may *grant or deny* such permission or imposed additional conditions *when it deems it to the best interests of said city* in regulating the use of its streets and may when it deems it necessary require that a surety bond in any reasonable amount BE POSTED AND MAINTAINED. The sum of \$25.00 shall be charged and collected annually from every person to whom such permission is granted, to cover the cost of the regulation and inspection of any structures erected or maintained in any street.

(f) Every application for permission to place a structure upon any street in said city shall be accompanied by the fee required for one

year, together with plans and specifications of the same, and shall state the name and address of the applicant, the place proposed to erect such structure, the length of time it is proposed to maintain the same and such other information as the Board of Commissioners may require.

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