1948

I. R. Stringham, et al. v. Salt Lake City : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CITY HAS SUFFICIENT POWER TO REGULATE OR PREVENT THE INSTALLATION, MAINTENANCE OR REMOVAL OF SIGNS LOCATED IN PUBLIC STREETS.

It is conceded by the city that it has no greater powers than those expressly granted to it by the State Legislature.

Wadsworth v. Santaquin City, 83 Utah 311, 28 P. 2d 161.

Salt Lake City vs. Sutter, 61 Utah 533, 216 P. 234.

The Utah State Legislature has seen fit to delegate to the cities located within the State of Utah wide general powers in the control of its streets. Those sections

in the State statutes which will be hereinafter specifically referred to are set forth as follows :

“15-8-26. SIGNS AND ADVERTISING MATTER. They may regulate or prevent the use of streets, sidewalks, public buildings and grounds for signs, signposts, awnings, horse troughs or racks, or for posting handbills or advertisements.”

“15-8-23. CLEANING PROPERTY, STREETS AND SIDEWALKS. They may regulate and control the use of sidewalks and all structures thereunder or thereover; and they may require the owner or occupant, or the agent of any owner or occupant, of property to remove all weeds and noxious vegetation from such property, and in front thereof to the curb line of the street, and to keep the sidewalks in front of such property free from litter, snow, ice and obstructions.”

“15-8-11. STREETS—ENCROACHMENTS, LIGHTING, SPRINKLING, CLEANING. They may regulate the use of streets, alleys, avenues, sidewalks, crosswalks, parks and public grounds, prevent and remove obstructions and encroachments thereon, and provide for the lighting, sprinkling and cleaning of the same.”

“15-8-10. TREES. They may plant, or direct and regulate the planting of, ornamental shade trees in streets, parks and public grounds.”

“15-8-84. ORDINANCES—PUNISHMENT. They may pass all ordinances and rules, and make all regulations, not repugnant to law, necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter, and such as

are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health, and promote the prosperity, improve the morals, peace and good order, comfort and convenience of the city and the inhabitants thereof, and for the protection of property therein; and may enforce obedience to such ordinances with such fines or penalties as they may deem proper; provided, that the punishment of any offense shall be by fine in any sum less than \$300 or by imprisonment not to exceed six months, or by both such fine and imprisonment."

It should be noted that in Sections 15-8-26 and 15-8-11 the city's powers are to regulate and prevent while in Sections 15-8-10 and 15-8-23, they are merely to regulate. Section 15-8-84 delegates to cities of Utah general police powers which permit and empower cities to enact ordinances to provide for the safety and preserve the health and promote the prosperity, improve the morals, peace and good order, comfort and convenience of the city and the inhabitants thereof and for the protection of property therein. This section will be more fully referred to under the argument of points II and VI of this brief.

II. THE PERMIT AND LICENSE GIVEN BY THE CITY TO INSTALL AND MAINTAIN SIGNS IN ITS STREETS IS AT MOST A TEMPORARY PERMIT AND MAY BE REVOKED AT THE WILL OF THE CITY COMMISSION.

The cases generally hold that an individual can acquire no property right in a public street and that any private use of a public street either by a permit,

adverse use, or otherwise, and for no matter how long a period of time, is merely a permissive right and can be terminated and prevented at the will of the governing body. The power for such action is vested in such governing body by either a direct grant of power or by the police power as is vested in them.

The case of Palace Garage, et. al., vs. Oklahoma City, an Oklahoma case reported in 268 Pac. at page 240, is a leading case frequently cited to sustain the city's right under its police powers to enforce an ordinance requiring the removal of obstructions from a public street. The matter was an appeal from the trial court's order sustaining a demurrer to appellant's petition, wherein it was requested that the city be enjoined from enforcing an ordinance requiring the removal of service stations located between the sidewalk and the curb. The State law in Oklahoma granted to cities the power to prohibit and prevent an encroachment into and upon the sidewalks and streets. Appellant contended it had certain rights in the parking which was admitted, but the court held that the passage of the ordinance requiring the removal was a valid exercise of the police power of the city and stated as follows:

“In exercising the power conferred upon it under the general welfare clause of the statute, the city council has broad discretion to determine what is necessary for the public welfare, safety, comfort, and convenience of the inhabitants of the city. The city council likewise has a similar discretion in determining what character of structure may be erected and maintained upon, over, or under the streets, alleys, and sidewalks of the

city, so long as such structure does not constitute per se a common nuisance. 'A purpresture is an encroachment upon the street, which the municipality may or may not tolerate at its option, if the same be not also a public nuisance.' *Ruffner v. Phelps*, 65 Ark. 412, 46 S. W. 728; *Owens & Scott v. Town of Atkins* (163 Ark. 82), 259 S. W. 396 (34 A.L.R. 267). Under the allegations of the appellants' complaint, their filling station, while a perpresture, was not a public nuisance per se, because they alleged that it was constructed with all safeguards and protection against fire, and so as not to create any hazard or risk from that source, and likewise that its appliances do not extend into the street, but are located between the sidewalk and curb line of the street, and, therefore, were not in any sense a public nuisance. But notwithstanding these allegations, it was nevertheless within the option or discretion of the city council to determine whether the welfare of the city demanded the abatement of these structures; and unless such discretion was exercised in an arbitrary, discriminatory, and unreasonable manner, or in such manner as to invade the constitutional rights of property, the court will not interfere and declare the ordinance void. See *North Little Rock v. Rose*, 136 Ark. 298, 206 S. W. 449, and cases there cited.

"The complaint does not contain any allegations which show that the ordinance is unreasonable, arbitrary, and discriminatory, or that it invades appellants' constitutional right to own and use their property. The fact that the city council permitted the operation of other stations, known as 'drive-in stations' which were not situated on the street but on private lots, would not tend to show that the ordinance under review was dis-

criminatory, even though, in order to reach these drive-in stations, it was necessary to drive across the sidewalks of the city, and even though the fire hazard was greater from such stations than from the filling station of appellants. Such 'drive-in' stations being situated upon private lots, they cannot be brought within the same class as the filling station of the appellants, which is within the boundaries of the street. Comparison cannot be made between filling stations situated on private lots and filling stations situated within the boundaries of the street, in order to determine whether the ordinance be discriminatory and unreasonable. The right of the city council to pass the ordinance under consideration is predicated upon the fact that the filling station of appellants is within the street of the city and therefore a purpresture, which the council, by an ordinance which is not arbitrary, discriminatory or unreasonable, has the right to remove."

It was further contended by appellant that the curb pumps were placed in the parking with the consent of the city and having expended considerable sums of money in the construction of the same they, therefore, had a vested right to keep them there so long as they did not become a menace to the life or safety of the public; the court finding that appellant had no such right and thereunder cited the case of Keyser vs. City of Boise, 165 P. 1121, an Idaho case, wherein the court said:

"* * * The authorities dealing with the question raised by the demurrer are conflicting, but we are of the opinion that the sounder rule, and the rule supported by the better reasoned cases, is to the effect that the streets, from side to side

and end to end, belong to the public, and are held by the municipality in trust for the use of the public. The city is therefore without authority, in the absence of a legislative enactment expressly permitting it, to grant a private person or corporation a permit to erect or maintain a permanent obstruction in a public street or thoroughfare for a purely private purpose; we have no such statute in this state. It follows that any one obtaining a permit from the city for the private use of a public street, as in this case, takes the same with notice that it is subject to revocation at the will of the city, and, indeed, in this view it matters not whether the use is made in accordance with a permit or without one, the use is merely permissive in either event, and revocable at any time without notice. If the person making such private use of a street goes to expense, he does so at his own risk, and he will not be heard to complain that his property is being taken without due process of law.

“The holder of a permit to install an obstruction in a public street or thoroughfare, for a private purpose, acquires no property or contractual right by reason of the issuance to him of such permit, and whenever the city authorities, in their discretion, deem it necessary, as a proper police measure to vacate and revoke such permit, the holder of the same has no alternative, but must comply with the order of revocation.”

The court further stated that any permissive use of the streets and parkings would be with the full knowledge of the statutory limitations on the part of the officers of the city to grant same and that therefore no property rights could be acquired from such use of the streets by plaintiff.

In the case of *Forbes v. City of Detroit, et. al.*, 102 N.W. 740, a Michigan case, the plaintiff applied to the City of Detroit for a permit to have the bay windows of her building encroach into the streets, which permit was granted subject to removal at any time when directed by the common council. As soon as these windows were completed at great expense the plaintiff received a ten days' notice informing her that her permit was terminated and she was to remove these encroachments. The court said:

“The express terms of the license give the right to the city to terminate it at will, and although it would have been better for Mrs. Forbes had the counsel not granted it in the first place, thus preventing her from the loss that she will suffer by its revocation, that cannot deprive the city of its reserved right, even if its power to grant the privilege be unquestioned. The action of the council is perhaps subject to some criticism, for the failure to fully understand and limit the proposed improvement in the first instance; but there is no indication of bad faith, and it was commendable that action was taken as soon as the misunderstanding developed, instead of permitting more expense to be incurred. There is a manifest propriety in denying the privilege of encroachment upon streets. While Mrs. Forbes is a sufferer without apparent fault upon her part, we see no way of relieving her.”

Rowe v. City of Cincinnati, an Ohio case reported in 159 N.E. at page 365, is a case wherein the plaintiff prayed for a restraining order against the defendant city from enforcing the provisions requiring the removal of

gasoline pumps from between the sidewalk and the curb. The court said in part that the use of the street for such purpose is merely a permissive use under a temporary license which creates no vested right to use the street for an exclusively private business and may at any time be withdrawn by the city. And further said an abutting owner does not have such right of property in the public streets as to give him the right to appropriate a portion of the street permanently to the purposes of his private business. Any privilege which the plaintiff in error heretofore had or enjoyed by virtue of the permit from the city has now been revoked. That privilege at most constituted a mere license or permissive use. They therein cited the case of *City of New Orleans v. Kaufman*, a Louisiana case, 70 So. 874, wherein the court said:

“City ordinance prohibiting the erection of sheds, signs, etc., in Napoleon avenue held to be valid.

“The public right to the use of the street goes to the full width of the street, and extends indefinitely upward and downward,

“The municipal officers may temporarily tolerate or permit minor obstructions to the full use of the streets which they deem not injurious to the rights of the public, but such toleration may be ended, or permission revoked, at any time by the same or any succeeding council.”

They also cite the case of *Eddy v. Granger*, City Treasurer, a Rhode Island case reported in 31 Atl. at page 831, wherein the court said: “Permission from a

municipality to use a public street for a private drain is at most a revocable license, and cannot create a vested right to maintain the drain." The court therein cites several other cases which are very much in point with our present case.

In the case of *Chapman v. City of Lincoln*, a Nebraska case reported in 121 N.W. 596, the plaintiff sought a temporary injunction from the enforcement of a city ordinance requiring the removal of stands set up on the city's sidewalks for the sale of fruits and other merchandise. The court held the fact that defendant city in the past has been permitting these violations of its ordinances and the statutes of the state, but has now commenced the work of removing all obstructions and may well be construed as evidence from the fact that it intends to prosecute the good work to a final and proper conclusion. Nor is the city estopped by reason of its failure to enforce the ordinances in the past or by reason of its permission of such violation from now insisting upon a strict observance of its ordinances.

In the case of *Union Institution For Savings in City of Boston v. City of Boston*, a Massachusetts case reported in 112 N.E. 637, wherein a temporary injunction was requested from the enforcement of an order requiring the removal of a large street clock which had been installed under permit issued by the city, the court said that the contention "that the erection of the clock under this permit constituted a contract which cannot be im-

paired, as well as a vested property right which cannot be taken from the plaintiff except by the power of eminent domain," necessarily assumes that the board or agents of the commonwealth, by necessary implication is authorized by the statute to contract to give up and surrender its and the commonwealth's control of the full use of public highways. That such authority is not implied as necessary to the proper exercise of the power conferred is obvious. 3 McQuillan, Municipal Corp. Sec. 2844. The right granted is not a franchise or a contract, but is a license which legalizes that form of obstruction in a public highway which would otherwise constitute a nuisance.

In the case of *Mettler v. City of Ottumwa*, an Iowa case reported in 196 N.W. at page 1000, the court said permission granted to the owner of private property to use a portion of the street for an areaway may be revoked at any time in the sound discretion of the council.

In the case of *Robinson v. City of Spokane*, a Washington case reported in 120 P. 101, the court held that the abutting owner had no property interest in the trees planted along the highway, saying, it seems clear that whatever right the city may have heretofore granted to abutting owners to plant trees in the street, such right was a mere permissive right or a license which might be revoked at any time and no vested rights could arise therefrom. The city in its legislative capacity might exercise this power to revoke the license and cause the

removal of any obstruction in the streets without liability.

In Utah I am unable to find any case that has been decided exactly in point. However, in the case of *Morris v. Salt Lake City*, reported in 101 P. 373, the court said:

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